RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

07-07-2015

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

Case No. 2015AP000921 CR

TONY PHILLIP ROGERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A DECISION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, HONORABLE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

AMY C. SCHOLZ Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar. No. 1078899

GRIEVE LAW, LLC 1305 N. Barker Road, Suite 8 Brookfield, WI 53045 (262) 786-7100

Issues Presented

- 1. Did the Circuit Court err when it denied Mr. Rogers' claim of ineffective assistance of counsel?
- 2. Did the Circuit Court err when it denied Mr. Rogers' request to introduce other acts evidence at trial showing prior fabrication by the victim?

3. Did the Circuit Court err when it denied Mr. Rogers' motion for a mistrial after his jail issued wristband became visible to the jury?

Position on Oral Argument and Publication

Neither Oral Argument nor Publication is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 4, 2012, a criminal complaint filed in Milwaukee County wherein Mr. Rogers was charged with four counts of 1stDegree Sexual Assault of a Child - Sexual Contact with a Person Under the Age of 13, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.02(1). R2. Mr. Rogers' daughter, D.A.R. DOB 09/25/1997, made allegations to her mother that Mr. Rogers had sexually assaulted her repeatedly between September 25, 2005 and September 25, 2009. R2:2. She made these allegations in the form of a letter written to her mother. Included in that letter were requests for additional freedoms at home, and mental health help due to her "hearing voices." Upon receiving the letter, DAR's mother contacted Milwaukee police who conducted an investigation which ultimately led to these charges.

On March 29, 2013, an amended information was filed that charged Mr. Rogers with the same four counts charged in the complaint, but added a fifth charge of Incest with a Child, contrary to Wis. Stat. §948.06(1). R8.

On April 29, 2013, a jury trial on this matter began in front of the Honorable David Borowski. A jury of 13 citizens from

Milwaukee County was selected. On April 30, 2013, a mistrial was declared as the result of the discovery of juror misconduct by two jurors, leaving the trial with only 11 jurors. The case was scheduled for a new trial set to begin on August 5, 2013. However, the defense requested an adjournment of that trial date due to the unavailability of a key witness. The Court granted the adjournment request.

On November 18, 2013, the case was again scheduled to begin trial. However, the Court was continuing a trial that had previously begun, and therefore was unable to hear Mr. Rogers' trial. Milwaukee County Circuit Court branch 10, the Honorable Timothy G. Dugan presiding, agreed to accept the case conduct the trial. Following three days of trial, Mr. Rogers was found guilty of all five counts charged in the amended information. The ordered Court а pre-sentence investigation. R24.

On January 29, 2014, Mr. Rogers was sentenced to serve 40 years in the Wisconsin State Prison System, bifurcated as 25 years of initial confinement followed by 15 years of extended supervision on each count. All five counts were ordered to run concurrently. R30.

On February 9, 2015, Mr. Rogers filed a motion for post-conviction relief. R37. On March 2, 2015, the State filed a response Mr. Rogers' motion. R39. Mr. Rogers filed a reply to the State's response on April 2, 2015. R41. On April 9, 2015, the Court issued a written decision and order denying Mr. Rogers' motion for post-conviction relief. R42. Mr. Rogers appeals the decision denying his motion for post-conviction relief.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. ROGERS CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The United States Supreme Court established a two prong test for ineffective assistance of counsel. Strickland Washington, 466 US 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). The defendant show that must counsel's performance was deficient and that counsel's errors were prejudicial. Id. Even if deficient performance is found, judgment will not be reversed unless the defendant proves that the deficiency prejudiced his defense. State v. Johnson, 153 Wis.2d 121, 449 N.W.2d

(1990). Deficient performance requires "showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Strickland, 466 US at 687, 104 S.Ct at 2064.

The prejudice standard as set forth in Strickland states that "the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. Counsel's choices are deficient if they are mistakes, rather than the part of a reasoned, deliberate defense strategy. State v. Moffett, 147 Wis.2d 343, 353, 433 N.W.2d 572, 576 (1989). Secondly, they must be so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial whose result is reliable. Id.

Mr. Rogers asserts that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his trial counsel failed to obtain the victim's mental health treatment records for use at trial. The victim's mental health was called into question when she drafted a letter to her

mother indicating that she was "hearing voices" and needed mental help. This admission of hearing voices came in the same letter that accused Mr. Rogers of the crimes with which he was charged. DAR also testified that she was hearing voices at the time she wrote the letter. R57:84-86. With such an obvious question as to DAR's mental health, it cannot be said that the failure to obtain her mental health records was part of reasoned, deliberate strategy. Instead, this failure to obtain records was the result of a mistake.

is exceedingly difficult to While it obtain mental health records of a victim in a case due to privacy laws and other laws aimed at protecting victims of crime, counsel could have filed a motion requesting an in camera review of the records to determine whether DAR was diagnosed with any mental health issue that could undermine her credibility as a witness at trial. Credibility determinations are left to the trier of fact. Johnson v. State, 55 Wis.2d 144, 148, 197 N.W.2d 760 (1972).The Wisconsin jury instructions provide guidance on what factors should be used to determine the credibility of witness:

"In determining the credibility of each witness and the weight you give to the testimony of each witness, consider these factors: whether the witness has an interest or lack of interest result the of [proceeding]; the witness' conduct, appearance, demeanor on the witness stand; the clearness or lack clearness of t.he witness' recollections; the opportunity the witness had for observing and for knowing the matters the witness testified about; the reasonableness of the witness' testimony; the apparent intelligence of the witness; bias or prejudice, if any has been shown; possible motives for falsifying testimony; and all other facts and circumstances which tend either to support or to discredit testimony." Wis. JI-Criminal 300.

Information that DAR was suffering from a mental illness would have provided the jury with additional information that affects the credibility of a witness. While it is true that the jury heard the portion of the letter wherein DAR indicates she was in need of mental health help, no explanation for her request for that help was ever provided. The jury was not given the opportunity to

determine whether, at the time she made the allegations, DAR was suffering from a mental illness that would make it more likely that she had fabricated or misremembered the events Mr. Rogers was accused of. Because the jury was not provided with this information, Mr. Rogers' case was prejudiced.

In its order denying Mr. Rogers' motion post-conviction relief, for the Court indicated that it agreed with the State's analysis. R42:2. The State argued that Mr. Rogers' counsel was not ineffective because he did, in fact, attempt to introduce evidence of the victim's mental health during the trial. The State points to two occasions on R39:3. which trial counsel attempted to introduce evidence of a mental health issue. First, trial counsel responded to the State's motion in limine. The Court did not issue a ruling, but instead requested that the parties reach an agreement regarding the issue. Trial counsel again attempted to introduce evidence of the victim's mental health during trial. R55:2-6.

The Court denied trial counsel's request to introduce evidence that the victim had been hospitalized for a mental health issue. The Court stated that an adequate foundation did

not exist to explain the hospitalization, and the lack of foundation would allow the jury to make unacceptable speculations regarding that hospitalization. R55:2-6. Trial counsel's failure to obtain medical records created the opportunity for the Court to find a lack of proper foundation. The medicals records would have provided a the Court with information regarding why the victim was hospitalized, and would have therefore provided a foundation upon which the Court could have ruled that evidence of the victim's hospitalization should have been introduced.

While trial counsel did make several attempts to introduce important evidence of the victim's mental health, his own failure to obtain relevant medical records caused the Court to deny the admission of significant pieces of evidence that, when combined with the evidence that was admitted, would have cast serious doubt on the credibility of the victim.

Additionally, in its decision and order denying Mr. Rogers motion for post-conviction relief, the Court ruled that Mr. Rogers failed to make the required showing for an *in camera* review of DAR's medical records. R42:2. The Court fails to address the main issue -

specifically that trial counsel never attempted to obtain an *in camera* review of the medical records. The deficient performance lies not in the failure to obtain an *in camera* review, but rather in the failure to try.

Mr. Rogers' trial counsel's conduct meets both prongs of the *Strickland* test, and was therefore ineffective. The failure to obtain and introduce evidence of the victim's mental health was a mistake, and not a reasoned trial strategy, and it prejudiced Mr. Rogers case because the inclusion of this information would have affected DAR's credibility as a witness.

II. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. ROGERS' REQUEST TO INTRODUCE OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE AT TRIAL SHOWING PRIOR FABRICATION BY THE VICTIM.

During the trial, Mr. Rogers' theory of defense was that DAR had fabricated these allegations. While the reason for the fabrication was not explicitly clear, several overlapping theories were expressed. One theory was that DAR had made these allegations in an attempt to obtain more freedom and less responsibility at home. R57:71-73. Another

theory was that she had told this lie to get attention and sympathy from her friends. Lastly, it was expressed that DAR had fabricated these allegations as a means to get what she wanted at home by pitting her biological father against her step-father. R57:90-93, R58:24-26, R58:34-37. Throughout the trial, Mr. Rogers' defense focused on the idea that DAR had several reasons for accusing him of these crimes, and that none of those reasons were because the abuse had actually occurred.

Mr. Rogers sought to introduce evidence of other acts committed by DAR to show that she had fabricated these allegations. R57:4-32. Wis. Stat. §904.04(2) governs the admission of such "other acts" evidence.

"Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. This subsection does not exclude the evidence when offered for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident."

The Sullivan court clarified the criteria necessary to admit evidence of "other acts":

- 1. Is the other acts evidence offered for an acceptable purpose under Wis. Stat. §904.04(2), such as establishing motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident?
- 2.Is t.he other evidence acts relevant, considering the t.wo facets of relevance set forth in Wis. Stat. §904.01. The first consideration in assessing relevance is whether the other acts evidence relates to a fact or proposition that is of consequence determination to the of The second consideration action. in assessing relevance is whether the evidence has probative value, that is, whether the other acts evidence has a tendency to make the consequential fact proposition more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.
- 3. Is the probative value of other acts evidence substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues misleading the jury, or or considerations of undue delay, of time needless waste or cumulative presentation of evidence?

State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 772-773, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998)

Specifically, Mr. Rogers sought to introduce evidence that DAR had previously told authority figures that she had personally

witnessed a friend being molested by another However, the alleged victim in that person. allegation indicated that the assault never occurred, and that DAR had fabricated the entire incident. Additionally, DAR had previously made allegations that her mother had physically abused her. Those allegations were also unfounded. Mr. Rogers sought to introduce this evidence to show motive, lack of mistake, and a modus operandi on the part Her motive for making these false of DAR. allegations was to use her status as a victim to get something she wanted. In the case of allegation involving her friend, she the R57:4-32. sought attention. The allegations made against her mother were for the purpose of having restrictions lifted from her. And the letter she wrote to her mother making the allegations with which Mr. Rogers was charged included several requests for reduced responsibility at home and increased freedoms. Court denied The Mr. Rogers request introduce this evidence, stating that it was inadmissible character evidence.

The Court of Appeals has previously addressed this issue. In State v. Johnson, the Court overturned the conviction on the grounds that the trial court erred when it

ruled evidence of prior acts of the victim inadmissible character evidence. Johnson, 184 Wis.2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463 (1994). In that case, the defense sought to introduce evidence of the victim's prior false accusations of The defense theory was that the victim abuse. made the false allegations in an attempt to obtain the defendant's property while he was The trial court ruled that incarcerated. evidence of other acts by the victim was inadmissible character evidence. However, the Court of Appeals ruled that the evidence was properly admissible to show motive on the part of the victim. Td.

"Other acts evidence is admissible it's relevance hinges on something other than the forbidden character inference proscribed §904.04(2) and the proponent of the evidence uses it for that purpose." Id. citing State v. Rutchik, 116 Wis. 2d 61, 341 N.W.2d 639 (1984). These cases indicate that other acts evidence is admissible to show motive on the part of the victim. Here, Mr. Rogers intended to introduce other evidence of DAR's prior fabrications further his theory of defense that DAR had made these allegations in an attempt receive more freedom and less responsibility at home. This is a proper purpose under §904.04(2) and the evidence should have been admitted.

A trial court's decision should not overturned "unless it can be said that reasonable judge, acting on the same facts and underlying law, could reach the conclusion." State v. Martinez, 331 Wis.2d 399, 409. 568, 584, 797 N.W.2d In decision denying Mr. Rogers' post-conviction motion, the Court stated that the other acts were not offered for an acceptable purpose, the other acts were not relevant to the crime charged, and the probative value was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

Mr. Rogers sought to introduce two very specific instances of lies the victim told in an effort to obtain something for herself. She sought to obtain attention in instance, and sought to have restrictions lifted from her in a second instance. evidence was offered not to show the victim's propensity to lie, but rather to show that she serious, false allegations makes against members of her family in order to obtain some benefit to herself. In this instance, she made a serious, false allegation against her father in order to be relieved

responsibilities at home. One of the instances of prior acts by the victim was a serious, false allegation of physical abuse by her mother that was made for the purpose of having restrictions lifted at home. That act contains the same motive and modus operandi on the part of the victim as the crime charged in this case.

The prior acts are sufficiently similar to the act alleged in this instance to be admissible. The probative value of the evidence is not outweighed by the risk of the unfair prejudice. Therefore, no reasonable judge could have found, under the same facts and relevant law, that the other acts evidence was inadmissible.

III. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENEID MR. ROGERS' MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL AFTER HIS JAIL ISSUED WRISTBAND BECAME VISIBLE TO THE JURY.

Mr. Rogers moved for a mistrial during his second trial because the bailiffs had failed to remove his jail-issued wristband, and that wristband became visible to the jury. R57:33-35. The decision whether to grant a motion for a mistrial lies within the sound

discretion of the trial court. State v. Pankow, 144 Wis. 2d 23, 47, 422 N.W.2d 913, 921 (Ct. App. 1988). The trial court must determine, in light of the whole proceeding, whether the basis for the mistrial request is sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a new trial. Id. A trial court properly exercises its discretion when it has examined relevant facts, applied the proper standard of law, and engaged in a rational decision-making process. State v. Bunch, 191 Wis.2d 501, 529 923 (1995), citing N.W.2d Schultz Darlington Mut. Ins. Co., 181 Wis. 2d 646, 656, 511 N.W.2d 879, 883 (1994).

this case, the visibility of In jail wristband was sufficiently Rogers prejudicial to require a new trial. It is well established that any indication that a defendant is in custody is prejudicial to the As such, exceptional measures are defense. regularly taken to ensure that a jury is oblivious to the defendant's custody status. Here, the visibility of the jail wrist band served as an indication to the jury that Mr. Rogers was in custody. His status as incarcerated inmate makes it more likely that the jury would convict him based on his

custody status and not on the evidence presented at his trial.

In its decision and order denying Mr. Rogers' motion for post-conviction relief, the Court stated that "a jail wristband does not necessarily indicate incarceration." This is patently untrue. By its nature, a jail wristband is indicative of jail. jury should not be in the position to speculate about the meaning of a wristband. That speculation detracts from the issues in the case, and would cause the jury to consider other factors (such as incarceration) besides the facts in determining guilt or innocence.

Additionally, the Court indicated that it believed Mr. Rogers actions caused the issue. There is no evidence to determine whether the jury saw the wristband prior to Mr. Rogers' request that it be cut off. The Court cannot know whether any members of the jury saw the wristband at all. The bailiffs erred when they failed to remove the wristband, and the Court had a duty to correct that error in an appropriate manner. Here, because wristband was on Mr. Rogers and visible at a time when the jury was present, the necessary remedy was to declare a mistrial. The Court erred when it failed to do so.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court made errors prejudicial to Mr. Rogers. Therefore, Mr. Rogers respectfully asks this Court to reverse the decision of the Circuit Court and remand this case with an order vacating the judgement of conviction and ordering a new trial.