RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-09-2015

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP921-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TONY PHILLIP ROGERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant-Appellant Tony Phillip Rogers's statement of the case is sufficient to frame the issues on appeal. As Respondent, the State exercises its option not to present an additional statement, but will supplement facts as necessary in its argument. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.19(3)(a)2.

ARGUMENT

I. Rogers has not shown that his trial counsel was ineffective.

A. Standard of review and relevant law.

"Appellate review of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim presents a mixed question of fact and law." *State v. Champlain,* 2008 WI App 5, ¶19, 307 Wis. 2d 232, 744 N.W. 2d 889. A trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for clear error, but whether counsel's performance is constitutionally infirm is a question of law, reviewed de novo. *Id.*

"Wisconsin applies the two-part test described in *Strickland* [*v. Washington*],¹ for evaluating claims of ineffective assistance of counsel." *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶28, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W. 2d 111 (footnote added). A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must show, first, that counsel's performance was deficient and, second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). A defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel fails when he has not satisfied either prong of the two-part test. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

With respect to the "prejudice" component of the test, the defendant must affirmatively prove that the alleged defects in counsel's performance "actually had an adverse effect on the defense." *Id.* at 693. The defendant cannot meet his burden by merely showing that the errors had "some conceivable effect on the outcome"; rather, he must show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 693-94. A "reasonable probability" is a "probability sufficient to

¹ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694. It is the defendant's burden to show harm. *State v. Anderson,* 2006 WI 77, ¶48, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W. 2d 74 (overruled on other grounds).

A circuit court may deny a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel without a *Machner*² hearing if the record conclusively establishes that the defendant is not entitled to relief. *Roberson*, 292 Wis. 2d 280, ¶43.

B. Rogers has not shown that his counsel performed deficiently nor has he shown any prejudice from that performance.

Rogers complains that counsel should have moved for an *in camera* inspection of DR's mental health records.³ He argues that access to DR's mental health records and the subsequent admission of the records at trial "would have cast serious doubt on the credibility of the victim."⁴ Although his argument is not clear, it appears that Rogers faults counsel not for failing to obtain the *in camera* review of the records, but for counsel's failure "to try" to obtain *in camera* review.⁵ He argues that counsel was deficient because he failed to "obtain and introduce evidence of the victim's mental health" and he suffered prejudice because introduction of that evidence "would have affected [the victim's] credibility as a witness."⁶ Rogers is mistaken.

² State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W. 2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

³ Rogers's Br. at 7.

⁴ Rogers's Br. at 10.

⁵ Rogers's Br. at 10-11.

⁶ Rogers's Br. at 11.

1. Relevant law on a defendant's right to access a victim's medical records.

In *State v. Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 608, 499 N.W. 2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993), this Court held that a defendant may obtain *in camera* inspection of a victim's privileged medical records by making a preliminary showing that the records are material to the defense.

In *State v. Green*, 2002 WI 68, 253 Wis.2d 356, 646 N.W.2d 298, the supreme court clarified what the preliminary showing of materiality requires. *Green* rejected language from *Shiffra* that *in camera* inspection is warranted any time evidence is "relevant and may be helpful to the defense." *Id.* ¶25. It held that, to obtain *in camera* inspection, "a defendant must show a 'reasonable likelihood' that the records will be necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence." *Id.* ¶32.

The supreme court explained that "[a] motion for seeking discovery for such privileged documents should be the last step in a defendant's pretrial discovery." *Id.* ¶35. It further explained that "a defendant must set forth a fact-specific evidentiary showing, describing as precisely as possible the information sought from the records and how it is relevant to and supports his or her particular defense." *Id.* ¶33. The showing must be based on more than "mere speculation or conjecture as to what information is in the records" or a "mere contention that the victim has been involved in counseling related to prior sexual assaults or the current sexual assault." *Id.*

The court summarized:

[T]he preliminary showing for an in camera review requires a defendant to set forth, in good faith, a specific factual basis demonstrating a reasonable likelihood that the records contain relevant information necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence and is not merely cumulative to other evidence available to the defendant. We conclude that the information will be "necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence" if it "tends to create a reasonable doubt that might not otherwise exist." . . . This test essentially requires the court to look at the existing evidence in light of the request and determine . . . whether the records will likely contain evidence that is independently probative to the defense.

Id. ¶34.

2. Rogers has not shown how his trial counsel could have made a credible *Shiffra/Green* motion or how he has been prejudiced by counsel's failure to make a *Shiffra/Green* motion.

Rogers faults his trial counsel for failing to move for an *in camera* inspection of the victim's mental health records, but he wholly fails to show how counsel should have made such a motion. As stated, to move for access to a victim's privileged medical records, a defendant must make a preliminary showing that there is something in the records that contains "relevant information necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence." *Id.*

Here, Rogers has fallen painfully short of that threshold. He has alleged only that the victim suffered "from a mental illness" and that this somehow made it "more likely that she had fabricated or misremembered the events" at issue.⁷ A barebones allegation that a victim is mentally ill does not set forth "a specific factual basis" that demonstrates that her medical records will contain "relevant information necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence." *Id.*

⁷ Rogers's Br. at 9.

Given that Rogers has not pointed to any facts from which his trial counsel could have made a good faith *Shiffra/Green* motion, Rogers has failed to show how counsel was deficient for failing to make such a motion. *See State v. Toliver*, 187 Wis. 2d 346, 360, 523 N.W. 2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994) (stating that an attorney is not deficient for failing to pursue a meritless claim). Moreover, because Rogers has not set out any facts from which counsel could have successfully made a *Shiffra/Green* motion, Rogers has not shown that he was prejudiced by the lack of a motion. *See State v. Wheat*, 2002 WI App 153, ¶14, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 647 N.W. 2d 441 (stating that a defendant suffers no prejudice when counsel fails to pursue a meritless motion).

II. Rogers has not shown that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion.

A. Standard of review and relevant law.

Whether to admit evidence at trial is within the discretion of the circuit court. *State v. Warbelton,* 2009 WI 6, ¶17, 315 Wis. 2d 253, 759 N.W. 2d 557. A decision to admit or exclude evidence will be reversed only when the circuit court has erroneously exercised its discretion. *Id.*

"In Wisconsin the admissibility of other acts evidence is governed by Wis. Stat. §§ (Rules) 904.04(2) and 904.03." *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 781, 576 N.W. 2d 30 (1998). Other acts evidence "is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity" with that character. Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(a). But other acts evidence may be admitted to show "motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 781. "This list is not exhaustive or exclusive." *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 783. To determine whether other acts evidence should be admitted, courts employ a three-step analysis. *Id.* Courts ask (1) whether the evidence is offered for a permissible purpose under § 904.04(2) and (2) whether the evidence is relevant under § 904.01. *See id.* at 783-90. The party seeking to admit the other acts evidence has the burden to establish that these first two prongs of the *Sullivan* test are met by a preponderance of the evidence. *See State v. Marinez,* 2011 WI 12, ¶19, 331 Wis. 2d 568, 797 N.W. 2d 399. Once the moving party establishes the first two prongs, the burden shifts to the opposing party to establish that the probative value of the evidence is outweighed by prejudice or confusion. *See id.*

B. The circuit court's decision denying Rogers's motion to admit other acts evidence of the victim was a proper exercise of the court's discretion.

1. The proceedings below.

Before testimony began at trial, it appears that Rogers submitted an affidavit to the court from someone who may have alleged that DR told her that DR's mother had abused DR (57:4-5). This same affidavit might have also alleged that DR falsely told DR's principal that DR had seen someone sexually assault her friend (57:6).⁸ Based on this affidavit, Rogers requested the court to allow him to produce these two pieces of other acts evidence involving DR: (1) that DR had scratched herself and then accused her mother of physical abuse and (2) that DR had reported that she had seen someone sexually assault her friend, but that the friend had denied that the assault had happened (57:5-6). The circuit court expressed its doubt that Rogers's evidence was truly other acts evidence and

⁸ At trial, Rogers's attorney told the court that DR falsely reported that she had seen a sexual assault, but it's not entirely clear that this allegation is in the affidavit (57:6).

instead was an attempt to attack DR's credibility by the use of extrinsic evidence, as prohibited by Wis. Stat. § 906.08(2) (57:4,9). Rogers refuted the court's position, insisting that he sought to admit the prior conduct to show DR's modus operandi (57:15). Ultimately, the circuit court determined that Rogers had not satisfied the three-step *Sullivan* analysis and denied Rogers's motion (57:15, 25-31). The court allowed, though, that Rogers could cross-examine DR on the allegations, but that Rogers would be stuck with whatever answers DR gave (57:31).

2. Any claim of circuit court error is waived because Rogers failed to preserve it.

The affidavit that Rogers relied on at trial does not appear to be in the record. In addition, Rogers did not have the affiant appear at trial to make an offer of proof. In fact, the record is altogether murky as to how Rogers would have sought to present evidence of DR's alleged other acts. It is Rogers's duty to ensure a complete record. *See State v. McAttee*, 2001 WI App 262, ¶5 n.1, 248 Wis. 2d 865, 637 N.W. 2d. 774. Without a proper record, it is impossible for this Court to review the circuit court's ruling. Wis. Stat. § 901.03(1)(b); *See Milenkovic v. State*, 86 Wis. 2d 272, 284, 272 N.W.2d 320 (Ct. App. 1978). Moreover, "when an appellate record is incomplete in connection with an issue raised by the appellant, we must assume that the missing material supports the trial court's ruling." *Fiumefreddo v. McLean*, 174 Wis. 2d 10, 36-27, 496 N.W. 2d 226 (Ct. App. 1993).

3. Rogers has not established that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in prohibiting admission of the evidence.

Rogers argues that the circuit court should have allowed him to introduce evidence of DR's other acts, contending that she had previously falsely accused others of abuse and that these accusations are evidence of her motive or modus operandi in accusing Rogers of assault.⁹ Rogers is wrong.

Rogers cannot attack DR's credibility using extrinsic evidence of specific conduct. *See* Wis. Stat. § 906.08(2); *State v. Barreau*, 2002 WI App 198, ¶33, 257 Wis. 2d 203, 651 N.W. 2d 12. In order to circumvent this barrier, Rogers attempts to cast his credibility evidence as evidence of other acts. To present other acts evidence, he must satisfy the three-part *Sullivan* analysis. *See Barreau*, 257 Wis. 2d 203, ¶¶33-41. Assuming that he satisfied the first part of the test – showing that the evidence was presented for an acceptable purpose, like motive or modus operandi – he failed to demonstrate that the evidence was relevant. Also, any probative value of the evidence.

"The test for relevancy is divided into two inquiries." *Id.* **(**35. "The first question is whether the other acts evidence relates to a fact or proposition that is of consequence to the determination of the action." *Id.* "The second question is whether the evidence has a tendency to make the consequential fact or proposition more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." *Id.*

Here, the question is whether Rogers sexually assaulted DR. Whether DR told someone that her mom had physically hurt her, and whether that allegation was false, is not relevant to whether Rogers sexually assaulted her. Similarly, whether DR told someone that she had witnessed a sexual assault, and whether that allegation was false, is not relevant to Rogers's conduct.

⁹ Rogers's Br. at 11-17.

Further, the probative value of these alleged other acts would have been outweighed by potential prejudice and confusion. Here, producing witnesses to testify regarding these other acts, and witnesses to rebut them, would have, as the circuit court speculated, devolved the trial into mini trials (57:14). It was a proper exercise of the circuit court's discretion to deem the evidence inadmissible.

Moreover, Rogers's attempt to admit what he deems other acts evidence was truly an attempt to circumvent Wis. Stat. § 906.08(2) to attack DR's credibility with extrinsic evidence. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in prohibiting him from doing so. The circuit court expressly permitted Rogers to cross-examine DR regarding her alleged false accusations, but he declined to do so.

III. Rogers has not shown that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying his motion for a mistrial.

A. Standard of review and relevant law.

"The decision whether to grant a motion for a mistrial lies within the sound discretion of the trial court." *State v. Bunch*, 191 Wis. 2d 501, 506, 529 N.W. 2d 923 (Ct. App. 1995). "A trial court properly exercises its discretion when it has examined the relevant facts, applied the proper standard of law, and engaged in a rational decision-making process." *Id.* at 506-07.

B. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Rogers's motion for a mistrial.

Rogers argues that the circuit court should have granted his motion for a mistrial when he noticed that he was wearing his jail-issued wristband at trial.¹⁰ Without citation, Rogers states that "[i]t is well established that any indication that a defendant is in custody is prejudicial to the defense."¹¹ Rogers's argument neglects to point out that, in denying the motion for a mistrial, the circuit court found that "no particular attention was drawn to the jury" to the wristband and that, even if the jury did notice the wristband, it was because of Rogers's "decision and intentional conduct" in highlighting the wristband (57:34).

During the first morning of trial, Rogers was wearing a jail-issued wristband (57:33-34). When Rogers alerted the court to the wristband, the jury was excused from the courtroom and the wristband was removed (57:34). The court found that it was unlikely that the jury saw the wristband, and the court itself had not observed it, but if the jury did see it, it was because Rogers drew unnecessary attention to it (57:34). The court stated,

[The wristband is] not obvious; I didn't observe it. He's got a shirt, he's got a jacket on. [Rogers's attorney] was hoping to have it brought to the Court's attention without anything occurring.

The bailiff went over, they spoke. Mr. Rogers decided to volunteer and shove his wrist up at the bailiff and say, cut this wristband off. And we're certainly removing that at this point. I don't believe any particular attention was drawn to the jury, but if it was, it was because of Mr. Rogers' decision

¹⁰ Rogers's Br. at 17-19.

¹¹ Rogers's Br. at 18.

and intentional conduct. So we'll have it removed, and the jury will come back in.

(57:34). Rogers then moved for a mistrial, which the court denied (57:35).¹²

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